1955

Steven L. West v. Miles N. Anderson et al : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

On October 20, 1952 the defendant Hal Anderson drove a truck belonging to the defendants Miles N. Anderson and Clyde Anderson, co-partners, to the premises of a mine owned by the defendant Malcolm N. McKinnon, doing business as American Fuel Company, for a load of coal.

The coal was being loaded at the mine by the defendant Clyde Cox, an employee of the defendant Malcolm N. McKinnon. Hal Anderson placed the truck in a position to be loaded with coal upon terrain which, it was agreed, sloped downward at a grade of approximately 6 percent.

Clyde Cox, who was loading the trucks by means of a scoopmobile, had placed 3 or 4 tons of coal in the truck when it started in motion and rolled downgrade and upon and against Steven L. West, who was reclining against a coal pile near where the truck was being loaded. Steven West was an independent trucker who had come to the mine for a load of coal. The defendants Miles N. Anderson, Hal Anderson and Clyde Anderson were represented by Attorney Dilworth Woolley. The defendants Malcolm N. McKinnon, doing business as American Fuel Company, and Clyde Cox were represented at the trial by Rex J. Hanson of the firm of Stewart, Cannon and Hanson.

At the outset of the trial there was another defendant, Eastern Utah Development Company, who plaintiff claimed was the employee of Miles N. Anderson and Clyde Anderson. The evidence showed that under the contractual arrangement they were independent contractors. During the course of the trial the action was dismissed as to this defendant and it is not involved in this appeal.

It was the contention of the plaintiff that Hal Anderson was an employee of Miles Anderson and Clyde Anderson and that he negligently set the brakes of the truck he was driving, did not remain with the truck during the loading and that he negligently failed to place blocks under the wheels of the truck while it was being loaded. Plaintiff further contended that the defendant Hal Anderson was negligent in that he left his truck parked with the front wheels turned in a down hill direction. As to the defendant Clyde Cox, the plaintiff contended that he negligently loaded the truck in such a manner as to cause the same to move from a stationary position; that

is, such negligence on his part consisted of either bumping the truck with the scoopmobile or negligently dumping large loads of coal from a height of several feet into the bed of the truck; that he failed to ascertain that the truck was securely braked or blocked so that it would not roll forward while being loaded, and that he loaded the truck when it was unattended.

It was claimed that the foregoing acts of negligence on the part of the defendants caused the truck to roll down hill and run on to the plaintiff, who was reclining on the ground in the vicinity of where the truck was being loaded.

All of the defendants denied that they were negligent in the manner claimed and all of the defendants claimed that the plaintiff negligently caused or contributed to his own injuries by placing himself in a reclining position down hill and to the left of and in front of the truck which was being loaded and further by his inattention to the loading of said truck and failure to exercise due care for his own safety (R. 40-45).

The case was tried to a jury and submitted to the jury on a special verdict (R. 129-134). By reason of the jury's answers to the questions propounded, the court entered a judgment against the defendants for \$23,690.

It is the contention of the defendants Clyde Cox and Malcolm N. McKinnon in this appeal that the verdict and the judgment should be set aside as to these defendants for the reason that defendant Clyde Cox was not guilty of any negligence which was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury, the plaintiff himself was guilty of contributory negligence which was a proximate cause

of his own injury, and because the court in its instructions and special verdicts erroneously instructed the jury and submitted certain issues to the jury on which there was no evidence upon which a jury could have made a finding.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The place where this accident occurred is located in Huntington Canyon in Emery County, Utah (R. 24) and what is generally called a "wagon mine"; one not having any railroad connection (R. 407). The area is generally illustrated by the photographs, Exhibits P-4, P-5, P-6, M-8 and M-9. The photos will show that it is a rather large, flat area between two canyon walls. The area is located near the bottom of the canyon at the entrance to the American Fuel Company property. There was a road extending through the property. On the south side of this road there was a pile of coal dust, referred to as "bug dust." On the north side of this road was a smaller area than that on which the pile of coal dust was located which dropped off into a stream running alongside the canyon wall. The ground at that point sloped from the area in which the pile of coal was found, generally down hill toward the stream and down the canyon at a grade which was agreed to be 6 percent (R. 40). A scoopmobile operated by Clyde R. Cox (See Exhibits 1, 2 and 3) was used to load coal into the trucks. The drivers of the trucks decided among themselves whose turn it was to be loaded (R. 178), and drove the particular truck into the area adjacent to the coal pile when it was his turn (R. 178). The bucket on the scoopmobile slides up and down on the rack at the front of the vehicle

(Exhibits 1, 2 and 3). With the bucket in a lowered position, the scoomobile is driven into the pile of coal until the bucket is full. The bucket is then raised high enough that it will clear the side of the truck to be loaded, at which point the scoomobile approaches the truck at right angles. The bucket is dumped into the truck, whereupon the scoomobile is backed off again and goes back to the pile of coal for another load.

The plaintiff Steven L. West testified that he left Salt Lake City, Utah around 2:00 o'clock A.M. on the day that the accident occurred, with a load of concrete to be unloaded in Price, Utah. Upon arriving there, he and two other fellows unloaded the concrete, after which he proceeded to the American Fuel Company mine in Huntington Canyon (R. 347). The trucks were loaded in rotation as they came up and the plaintiff had been waiting, according to his testimony, about a half hour for his turn at the time of the accident. He had stationed himself across the road and about 30 feet from where the trucks were being loaded, and was reclining on a pile of slack coal, with his hat over his eyes (R. 348) he was either dozing or in his words was "sitting there thinking of all his problems" (R. 349). He heard the trucks pulling in to be loaded and pulling out and was aware of what was going on, but was not watching or paying any particular attention (R. 349). The first intimation he had of the impending accident was an instant before the truck ran over him (R. 350). The witness Clyde Cox testified that the plaintiff was in the position indicated by the X on the right hand side of Exhibit P-5, and that the truck



which was being loaded was in the position of the X with the T by it, on the left hand side of Exhibit P-5 (R. 182). Referring to Exhibit P-4, which is reproduced herein for the convenience of the court, he testified that the plaintiff was in the position of the X near where the man in that photograph is standing and that the truck which was being loaded was in the position of the X and the T near the pile of coal with the front of the truck pointing in the direction of the arrow, which would be down the canyon. The scoopmobile was located in the position shown by the S on Exhibit P-4. He testified that in this position the plaintiff was 40 to 50 feet from where the trucks were being loaded, and at the time of the accident was lying down (R. 185); that the plaintiff

had his hat down over his face and looked as if he were asleep (R. 204).

The witness Hal Anderson testified that on Oct. 20, 1952 he had driven an International truck belonging to his brother or his dad, Miles Anderson and Clyde Anderson, respectively, up Huntington Canyon to the American Fuel Company property (R. 247). He drove up to the tipple where he was told, "They are loading dust today," so he drove to the dust pile further down the road. He parked his truck on the left hand side of the road and waited 15 or 20 minutes (R. 250). During that time he talked to a number of other truckers and observed the plaintiff lying in the position where he was later hurt (R. 249). When it came his turn he drove onto the road and backed alongside the coal pile (R. 251). He parked the truck right on the road or pretty close to the road, with the wheels turned to the left and facing down canyon, on an incline. He then put the brakes on and placed the vehicle in first gear, after which he got out of the truck and walked down to talk to his brother Clyde Anderson, who was driving another truck and was also waiting to be loaded. Clyde Anderson's truck was parked a short distance further down the canyon from where the witness had left his truck. He had observed Clyde Cox put the first scoop load of coal into his truck, but was not paying much attention and did not see him put any more coal in the truck (R. 256). He had been talking to his brother (R. 257) when he heard someone yell, "Your truck is moving!" He turned and started to run after it. The front end of the truck when he first saw it was already

across the road (R. 257). He crossed in front (R. 285) and to the left hand side of the truck. Just as he got to the left door, it stopped of its own accord. At that point Clyde Cox said, "There is a man under your truck," and they started digging him out (R. 262).

He testified that while he was still at the scene of the accident before the coal had been dumped out of the truck, the emergency brake was tested by letting the truck coast off a steep grade up canyon and pulling the emergency brake on, which caused the rear wheels to slide (R. 263). The defendant Clyde Cox testified that after Hal Anderson had parked his truck, he got out of it and walked 30 to 40 feet down the canyon from where he was loading to where Mr. Anderson's brother was (see the black cross on Exhibit P-5, marked "XCA" (R. 191). He had put 2 or 3 loads into the truck during which time he had noted no movement on the part of the truck other than settling on its springs as it took the load (R. 184). After putting in the last or third load, the witness backed the scoopmobile in a circle approximately 10 feet behind where the truck had been standing (R. 205) and was in the process of shifting to go forward for another scoop load, when he observed that the truck was moving (R. 184). At that time the truck was about 30 feet from him. He called to the plaintiff, "Look out, Steve!" (R. 184) and observed the truck roll to where the plaintiff Steve West had been lying (R. 208). He shut off the motor of the scoop and went over to where the truck was at that time unaware that the accident had happened. Not seeing the plaintiff around anywhere, he concluded that he

must be under the truck. He and Clyde Anderson grabbed shovels and dug as fast as they could to get the plaintiff out from under the truck, after which plaintiff was taken by ambulance to the Price City Hospital (R. 206).

Cox further testified that he did not bump the truck during the process of loading it (R. 195). The coal was dumped into the truck when the bucket was approximately a foot above the side of the truck bed. He testified that he had been loading trucks in this same manner for about 2 years, during which time he had never observed a truck roll free (R. 202). He further testified that it was the custom of the truckers to remain near the truck during the process of loading although because of the dust they usually left the cab; that they would get on top of the truck after he had them partially loaded and straighten the coal around so that they could get as much weight on the truck as possible (R. 203).

Clyde Anderson testified that on the day of the accident, he was at the American Fuel Company mine (R. 482) waiting to be loaded (R. 487); that he was parked down hill or down the canyon from where the scoopmobile was operating (R. 458) talking to his brother Hal (R. 453). He had observed the truck being parked and had observed Clyde Cox put one scoop of coal in the truck. He was not, however, watching the truck at the time it started to move. Hal had hollered that his truck was moving and when he observed the truck at that time, it was almost to where Steve was lying (R. 453).

The coal from the American Fuel Company mine was being hauled under a contract with the Eastern

Utah Development Company of which company Mr. Max Fawcett is the manager (R. 373-4) under an arrangement whereby the court determined the Andersons were independent contractors.

On December 30 or 31, 1953 the truck which had been involved in this accident was reassembled and put in the same condition that it was on the day of the accident (R. 467), it was then taken to the premises of the American Fuel Company. Hal Anderson, Clyde Anderson, Rex Hanson, a photographer, Frank Stauffer, a deputy sheriff and Clyde Cox were present (R. 467-9). Hal Anderson parked the truck in the exact spot where it had been parked on the day of the accident. He put the truck in first gear and pulled the emergency brake on tight, as he testified he had done on the day of the accident. The truck was then examined by Max Fawcett and by Deputy Sheriff Frank Stauffer to make certain that the truck was in gear and the brakes were on. Clyde Cox then took the same scoopmobile and put a load of coal in the truck in the same manner from the same position as on the day the accident occurred (R. 470). Mr. Cox then reloaded the scoopmobile and was advised this time to bump the truck as hard as he could without endangering himself, which was done. On the third load, he raised the scoopmobile bucket to its extreme height and completely dropped the entire amount of coal from the bucket into the truck from that distance. The truck bounced up and down and shook, but did not move forward. Cox then reloaded the scoopmobile, drove it around behind the truck and did his best to try to push the truck forward

down the canyon. The wheels did not turn, but did slide forward some 14 to 16 inches. A movie of this experiment was taken and introduced into evidence (Exhibit M21).

The plaintiff testified as part of the evidence on damages that during the year 1951 he made around \$2,-400 prospecting and hauling coal (R. 336-7), and that during the year 1952 he made around \$2,600 (R. 337); that at the time of the accident, he was earning \$300 per month, with withholding tax taken out (R. 345). This was the only evidence on his loss of earning capacity.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I. THE DEFENDANTS MALCOLM N. McKINNON AND CLYDE COX WERE NOT GUILTY OF ANY NEGLIGENCE WHICH WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE INJURY TO THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT II. PLAINTIFF WAS HIMSELF GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WHICH WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF HIS OWN INJURY.

POINT III. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS AND IN SUBMITTING ISSUES TO THE JURY WHICH WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND OVER-ACCENTUATED PLAINTIFF'S THEORY.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE DEFENDANTS MALCOLM N. McKINNON AND CLYDE COX WERE NOT GUILTY OF ANY NEGLIGENCE WHICH WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE INJURY TO THE PLAINTIFF.

At the close of the evidence, defendants Malcolm N. McKinnon and Clyde Cox moved for a directed verdict upon the grounds that no act or conduct on the part of Clyde Cox could have been a legal proximate cause of the accident; that the evidence conclusively showed that

if the brakes on the truck had been set or the vehicle placed in proper gear that the loading operation would not have caused it to roll forward, upon the further ground that Clyde Cox was entitled to assume until it reasonably appeared to the contrary that the truck would be left with its brakes fully applied and in proper gear before he commenced to load it, that there was nothing to put him on notice to the contrary in the evidence. The motion was taken under advisement by the court and among other issues, the court submitted to the jury the issues of whether Clyde Cox was negligent in:

(a) bumping the truck with the scoopmobile;

(b) in dumping large loads of coal into the truck from a height greater than that which a reasonably prudent person would have used under the existing circumstances;

(c) in failing to ascertain that the dump truck was so securely braked or blocked that it would not roll down hill while being loaded; and

(d) in proceeding to load the dump truck while it was unattended.

The jury absolved Clyde Cox of negligence under (a) and (b) but found that he was negligent in (c) and (d), but on the latter issue found that his negligence was not a proximate cause of the accident (R. 495-6). As a result of the jury's findings, the only issue raised by the defendants' motion for a directed verdict is: was there sufficient evidence to go to the jury on the issue of whether Clyde Cox was negligent by "failing to as-

certain that the dump truck was so securely braked or the wheels blocked, before starting to load it; and was he required to foresee that if this was not done, the truck would roll down hill and against and upon the plaintiff?

There was no evidence at the trial that Clyde Cox exercised any supervision or control over the operation of the truck.

In determining whether Clyde Cox was negligent under the circumstances, it should be kept in mind that the motion picture submitted in evidence showed conclusively that if the truck was properly braked, it would not roll forward because of the force connected with or resulting from the loading operation. The court will recall that Clyde Cox testified and the motion pictures verified when the experiment was made that he was instructed to hit the side of the truck with the scoopmobile with as much force as possible without jeopardizing the equipment or his own safety, and that after 3 scoops of coal had been dumped into the truck, he attempted to push the truck down hill with the scoopmobile but was unable to do more than skid the truck's rear wheels, which showed that failure to block the wheels had nothing to do with causing the accident, that no action on the part of Clyde Cox caused the truck to roll down the hill, and the jury so found in their answers to the interrogatories.

If nothing Clyde Cox did caused the truck to roll, and he did not supervise the mechanical operation of the truck, would he have any more duty to ascertain if the truck was securely braked or the wheels blocked than any other person who happened to be in the vicinity?

If Stephen West could assume the truck was securely braked, was not Clyde Cox entitled to the same assumption?

The evidence was also undisputed that Clyde Cox was employed solely as a handyman on the premises. One of his duties was to operate the scoopmobile. He was not familiar with the mechanism of this truck or the various types of trucks whose owners drove them onto the premises to purchase coal. Inasmuch as most of the drivers owned their own trucks, they were anxious to get loaded and be on their way as soon as possible. The custom was to load the trucks in the order in which they arrived. The evidence showed that the braking mechanism and gear ratio of modern day trucks are complicated and, of course, the average person in observing the truck would not know whether it was partially or securely braked. Cox was unfamiliar with the truck's mechanism.

The truck involved in this accident was equipped with an Eaton two-speed, rear axle, the safe operation of which required the truck to be parked in low gear range on a down grade, because if left in high range, after the vacuum part of the mechanism had become equalized, a spring would attempt to pull the gear from high range to low range, and if the cogs on the gears happened to be on dead center so that the gears could not mesh, there was nothing to prevent the truck from moving forward in free wheeling as the emergency brake or transmission gear would then have no effect on the movement of the truck's rear wheels. Was it unreason-

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