1955

## Steven L. West v. Miles N. Anderson et al : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### POINT III

THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY THE TRIAL COURT DO NOT OVER-ACCENTUATE THE PLAINTIFF'S THEORY, BECAUSE, SUCH INSTRUCTIONS WERE GIVEN TO ENABLE THE JURY TO ANSWER THE SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES SUBMITTED TO THEM.

Under Point III in defendants' brief, the defendants have discussed a number of contentions wherein they claim the court erred in its instructions and for convenience we have broken this point down into four points and will discuss them in the same order as discussed in defendants' brief.

The defendants contend that the court instructions placed undue emphasis on the plaintiff's theory of the case and did not give equal emphasis to the theory of the defendants. The instructions in this case must be considered in light of the fact that the issues were submitted to the jury on special interrogatories. Rule 49 (a) U.R.C.P., provides in part as follows:

"The court shall give to the jury such explanation and instruction concerning the matter thus submitted as may be necessary to enable the jury to make its findings upon each issue."

Professor James William Moore in *Moore's Federal Practice*, Vol. 5, Page 2207, in discussing the instruction of a jury under a special verdict states as follows:

"Use of the special verdict eliminates the necessity for and use of complicated instructions on the law, which are a normal concomitant of the general verdict. Complicated instructions have always been ludicrous and vicious; ludicrous in that only the naive can believe lay juries are capable of absorbing all the legal elements involved; vicious in that lack of comprehension leads to confusion and ultimately, injustice. When the special verdict is used the court should give to the jury only such explanation and instructions as it deems necessary to enable the jury to make intelligent findings upon the issues of facts submitted."

The instructions given with regard to Hal Anderson's negligence i.e. Instructions 10 and 11 cited by the plaintiff in support of their theory that the court over-emphasized the plaintiff's theory of the case were necessarily given in order to enable th jury to make their findings with regard to the

negligence of Hal Anderson. The defendants do not claim that they are erroneous in stating the law but merely that they over-emphasized the duty of the defendants and particularly that they over-emphasized the duty of Clyde Cox. Such contention, we submit, is without merit. The court must of necessity instruct the jury with regard to each of the special interrogatories submitted. The defendants cite the case of *Devine vs. Cook*, 279 Pac. (2d) 1073, in support of their theory that the court in this case over emphasized or over accentuated the plaintiff's theory of the case. However, an analysis of this case and the other cases therein cited indicates that the over accentuation discussed in those cases is the giving of multiple and complicated instructions on the same subject. Such was not done in this case.

The defendants further claim and cite *Divine vs. Cook*, *supra*, as authority that it is error to have the instruction pertaining to one party to be given in a positive manner and those pertaining to another given in a negative manner. This proposition, we also submit, is not applicable to the case at bar. Instruction No. 12 with regard to the duty of Clyde Cox merely places upon Clyde Cox a duty to use reasonable care to avoid harming Steve West and that he was obligated to conduct himself as a reasonably prudent man. Paragraph two of the Instruction merely sets forth the conditions which the jury was entitled to consider under the evidence in determining whether or not Clyde Cox did act as a reasonably prudent man. There is no positive instruction that if Clyde Cox did not check the brakes he would be guilty of negligence. This fact was left for the determination of the jury under an in-

struction which we claim to be proper. On the other hand Instruction No. 13 with regard to the contributory negligence of Steve West states in a postive manner that Steven L. West would be guilty of negligence in assuming the position he did without keeping an outlook for his own safety. The defendants complain of this last phrase, however, the evidence was undisputed that he did not keep an outlook for his own safety and thus the instruction given amounts to a positive instruction that Steve West would be negligent if an ordinarily prudent man could have foreseen that the truck while being loaded might be set in motion and that it would likely run upon the general area where Steve West was reclining. Instruction 12, we submit, was necessary and sufficient to enable the jury to make the determination as to whether or not Steve West was contributorily negligent.

The only proper theory upon which the defendants could rely was, that Clyde Cox was not negligent; that he acted as a reasonably prudent man would under the circumstances of the case; and that Steven West was guilty of contributory negligence. The special interrogatories and instructions, as given, submitted this theory to the jury.

The defendants set forth on page 46 of their brief Instruction No. 10 and assert that such Instruction states the correct rule of law applicable to the case and that it sets forth the defendant's theory of the case. A perusal of the instructions indicates that it is erroneous. The instruction as requested gives to Clyde Cox an *absolute right to assume* that the brakes were securely set so as to hold the truck in place during the loading operation. As pointed out in Point I of plaintiff's brief, such

is not the law and it would have been error to give Instruction No. 10.

The special verdict, as submitted to the jury in part II, sets forth the facts to be determined by the jury with regard to Clyde Cox's negligence and part III sets forth the question of Steve West's contributory negligence. The instructions, as given, do nothing more than enable the jury to intelligently answer these questions. Thus, we submit, there is no error prejudicial to the defendants.

#### POINT IV

THE SUBMISSION OF THE SPECIAL INTERROGATORY TO THE JURY REGARDING THE LOSS OF EARNING CAPACITY OF STEVEN L. WEST WAS PROPER BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY OF MR. WEST AND THE TESTIMONY OF THE DOCTOR WHO ATTENDED MR. WEST SUPPORTED THE SUBMISSION OF THE QUESTION OF LOSS OF YEARLY EARNING CAPACITY TO THE JURY.

The defendants excepted to the giving of that portion of Instruction 17 which submitted the question of the loss of Steven L. West's earning capacity to the jury and also special interrogatories No. VI and VII on the grounds that there was no evidence in the record that Steven West sustained a loss of earning capacity as a result of the accident. The defendants contend in their statement of facts and in their brief on page 39 that the only evidence in the record on the point

of Steven L. West's earning capacity was that the plaintiff earned \$2,600.00 per annum for the year 1952 as disclosed by his income tax returns and \$2,400.00 during the year 1951, but since his recovery he had been earning \$300.00 per month. They make the further assertion that there is no evidence in the record whatsoever that he was qualified for or could earn in excess of \$300.00 per month were it not for his injuries. Such contention we submit is without merit. Mr. West testified (R-336) that during the year 1951 he worked on and off for a period of about five months and that the rest of the time he was prospecting. That the prospecting produced him no income. This evidence alone, we submit, is sufficient to allow the jury to make a determination as to Mr. West's loss of earning capacity. If a plaintiff uses his time for any valuable purpose, though he doesn't actually earn any money by it, he should be allowed the reasonable value thereof. *District of Columbia vs. Woodbury*, 136 U. S. 450, 10 S. Ct. 990. If a further evidence of Mr. West's earning capacity be necessary, he testified (R-334) that he could and did in some months gross as much as \$800.00 per month. His testimony also indicates that he could make four trips per week and make a net profit on each trip of \$45.00. Based upon three trips per week wherein he would gross \$60.00 per trip or a total of \$180.00 and his expenses for three trips being \$45.00, Mr. West would net \$135.00 per week or an average of \$540.00 per month. The testimony of Dr. Hubbard (R-238, 239), makes it clear that Steven West will never be able to do heavy work again. Dr. Hubbard testified as follows:

"Q Do you think he will ever be able to do that type of work?

A He won't be able to do that heavy trucking. No.

Q And for how long, at any time? Will he ever be able to do it again?

A Well, I thing the trucker the way—of course, I maybe don't understand that but he won't be able to do any heavy physical work that he has done in the past.

Q As long as he lives, is that correct?

A Yes, sir, that means that. I mean the heavy lifting, truck work, heavy physical work, shoveling or scooping or the type of work they do would do that."

Such evidence is sufficient to sustain the jury's findings as to Steven L. West's loss of earning capacity and it was not error to submit this issue to the jury.

## POINT V

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION, NUMBER 9 (a) REGARDING THE RIGHT TO RELY ON DUE CARE OF ANOTHER, AND NUMBER 12 REGARDING CIRCUMSTANCES TO BE CONSIDERED IN DETERMINING ORDINARY CARE OF COX, ARE NOT CONTRADICTORY INSTRUCTIONS BECAUSE CLYDE COX DID NOT HAVE AN ABSOLUTE RIGHT TO RELY UPON THE ASSUMPTION THAT HAL ANDERSON WOULD NOT BE NEGLIGENT, BUT COULD ONLY SO RELY UNTIL SOME ACT WAS DONE BY HAL ANDERSON TO INDICATE TO THE CONTRARY OR THE CIRCUMSTANCES INDICATED THAT HAL ANDERSON MIGHT BE NEGLIGENT.

The defendants in arguing that the court's Instructions Nos. 9 a and 12 are contradictory base their assumption upon an erroneous interpretation of the law, i.e., that Clyde Cox was entitled to absolutely rely upon the non-negligence of Hal Anderson. As heretofore discussed in Point I, such is not the law. Even as given, Instruction No. 9a, gives Clyde Cox the right to rely upon the assumption that Hal Anderson would not be negligent only until some *act* was done by Hal Anderson to indicate to the contrary.

Viewed in the light of the true rule that Clyde Cox was entitled to rely upon Hal Anderson only if a reasonably prudent man would have done so under the circumstances, the two instructions herein involved are not contradictory in that Instruction No. 12 or the paragraph of which the defendants complain merely sets forth the facts and circumstances of the case which could be considered by the jury in determining whether or not Clyde Cox acted as a reasonably prudent man under the circumstances. The cases of *Konold vs. Rio Grande Western Railway* (Utah) 21 Utah 379, 60 Pac. 1021; *Jensen vs. Utah Railway* (Utah), 72 Utah 376, 270 Pac. 349, and *State vs. Waid* (Utah), 92 Utah 279, 67 Pac. (2d) 647, are cases in which the instructions, as given, were in irreconcilable conflict on a material point and, of course, such instructions were held to be error. However, in the case at bar the instructions, as given, can be reconciled. Clyde Cox was entitled to the assumption that Hal Anderson would not be negligent only until some act was done on his part to indicate to the contrary. While we submit this is not the true rule of law, it was to the defendants' benefit that it was given in such a



restrictive manner. Under the instructions the jury was entitled to determine first whether or not there was some act on the part of Hal Anderson which would put Clyde Cox on notice that he might have been negligent. Once having made this determination under Instruction 9a the jury was then entitled to determine whether or not Clyde Cox failed to use ordinary care and were entitled to consider the circumstances as set forth in Instruction No. 12. Viewed in this light, we submit that there is no conflict in the instructions. They are not contradictory and are not irreconcilable and therefore the cases cited do not require a reversal on this ground.

The question as to whether or not Hal Anderson committed some act or did some act which would put Clyde Cox on notice of his negligence was not submitted to the jury nor did the court make a finding thereon. The defendants did not request that such an issue be submitted and therefore if such finding is necessary to support the verdict of the jury, such finding shall be deemed to have been made in accordance with the judgment on the special verdict. *Rule 49(a) U.R.C.P.* The last sentence provides in part as follows:

"As to an issue omitted without such demand the court may make a finding; or, if it fails to do so, it shall be deemed to have made a finding in accord with the judgment on the special verdict.

## POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN  
THE GIVING AND THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE IN-

INSTRUCTIONS COMPLAINED OF BY THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE IN SUBMITTING A CASE TO THE JURY ON SPECIAL INTERROGATORIES, ONLY SUCH INSTRUCTIONS AS WILL ENABLE THE JURY TO INTELLIGENTLY ANSWER THE INTERROGATORIES NEED BE GIVEN.

The defendants complain of the failure of the court to give certain instructions requested and not heretofore discussed. Defendants request No. 15 is the usual instruction given in a general verdict case. However, bearing in mind that this case was submitted on written interrogatories such instruction would have served no useful purposes. The Court in Instructions No. 17 as given (R-125) instructed the jury in part as follows:

“Before you answer the question pertaining to damages in your special verdict you ought to report to the court to see if it is necessary to answer these questions.”

The jury did not follow this instruction but continued and answered all of the interrogatories. (See remarks of the court, (R-498). The jury answered the questions with regard to negligence and contributory negligence first and the failure to report back to the court to determine whether or not it was necessary to answer the questions on damages cannot or was not prejudicial to the defendants herein. Defendants also complain that their Instruction No. 6 (R-104) submitting the issue of unavoidable accident was not given. The issue of unavoidable accident was not submitted to the jury nor was it requested by the defendants that the issue be submitted. The issue of inevitable or unavoidable accident is submitted to the jury only where the evidence tends to show that the

injury resulted from some cause other than the negligence of the parties. The rule is stated in 65 CJS 1192, Sec. 264 (e) as follows:

“Ordinarily the issue of inevitable or unavoidable accident should be submitted to the jury where it is raised by the evidence; and such issue is raised when, and only when, there is evidence tending to prove that the injury resulted from some cause other than the negligence of the parties. It is not raised and may not be submitted for consideration by the jury where either party was guilty of negligence in the situation which resulted in the injury, or if there is no evidence tending to prove that something other than the negligence of one of the parties caused the injury complained of; and the fact that the action is against two alleged tort-feasors does not alter the rule, since a dispute in the evidence as to whether the injuries resulted alone from the negligence of one of the defendants presents a question of sole proximate cause and not a question of unavoidable accident.”

Defendants' requested Instruction No. 7 (R-105) could have been proper only if the verdict had been a general verdict. The jury was instructed on proximate cause in Instruction No. 9. Under such instruction the jury could have answered the special interrogatories in such a manner as to find that the negligence of Hal Anderson was the sole proximate cause of the accident. This they did not do.

It is not necessary in submitting special interrogatories to the jury that the jury be instructed on the general law of the case. Only such instructions should be given as necessary to enable the jury to answer the special interrogatories. This rule is set forth in 88 C.J.S. 837, Sec. 317, as follows:

"Where a case is submitted to the jury for a special verdict or on special issues it is unnecessary and erroneous to instruct the jury generally as to the law of the case, but instructions as to general rules of law should be given as far as they are reasonably necessary to enable the jury to answer the special questions intelligently and in accordance with the law."

See also 53 Am. Jur. 493, Sec. 638, as follows:

"Where a special verdict is required, it is improper to instruct the jury generally concerning the law of the case, for the reason that inasmuch as the jury are not to apply the law to the facts. instructions as to the law can serve no useful purpose. In such case the instructions should be confined to matters as are necessary to inform the jury as to the issue made by the pleadings, and the rules for weighing and reconciling testimony, who has the burden of proof as to the facts to be found, and whatever else may be necessary to enable the jury clearly to understand their duties concerning such special verdict, and the facts to be found therein."

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